## The halogen effect in ruthenium catalysis

## Artemy R. Fatkulin,<sup>®</sup> Oleg I. Afanasyev,<sup>®</sup> Denis Chusov<sup>®</sup>

A.N.Nesmeyanov Institute of Organoelement Compounds of Russian Academy of Sciences, 119991 Moscow, Russia

The development of new catalysts is evolving in a few ways. One is to design complexes with increasingly complicated ligands. Although effective in terms of the selectivity achieved, this approach has the disadvantage of making catalytic systems progressively more expensive. Another path is to boost catalytic activity by modifying the common elements of the ligand environment. In particular, to date, there have been excellent reviews of the physical and chemical properties of various halogen-containing complexes but a systematic comparison of their catalytic performance is lacking. The present review partially fills this gap by comparing the activity and selectivity of catalysts containing Ru–I and Ru–Cl bonds. Though the influence of numerous parameters, *viz.*, the leaving ability of a halogen, the stability of the complex, its redox potential, to name a few, does



not allow for a reliable prognosis of their outcome for the catalyst efficiency in the general case, certain predictions and explanations can be made within some classes of reactions. Some of them are given in this review.

The bibliography includes 131 references.

Keywords: catalysis, ruthenium, iodide, chloride, halide effect.

## Contents

1. Introduction	1	
2. Reduction of C=O bonds		
2.1. Catalytic hydrogenation of ketones	2	
2.2. Transfer hydrogenation of ketones	5	
2.3. Miscellaneous reactions of ketone reduction	7	
3. Reduction of multiple carbon-carbon bonds	7	
4. Reduction of heterocycles and Schiff bases	9	
5. Reductive C–N coupling	11	
6. Oxidation reactions	12	
7. Metathesis reactions	13	
7.1. Ring-opening cross-metathesis reactions	13	
7.2. Ring-opening metathesis polymerization reactions	14	
7.3. Ring closure metathesis reactions	14	

## **1. Introduction**

Ruthenium complexes are widely used in organic catalysis as catalysts for redox, C-H activation, metathesis, allylic activation, and other reactions.<sup>1–10</sup>

Often there is a halogen atom in the coordination sphere of the metal in a complex. Halogens differ in atomic radii, electronegativity and Pearson's softness/hardness, which in turn is defined by polarizability, ionization energy and some other properties. A comparison of some steric and electronic features of halogen atoms is given in Table 1.<sup>11</sup> Due to these differences, the identity of a halogen atom coordinated to the

A.R.Fatkulin. Candidate of Chemical Sciences, Researcher at the INEOS RAS.

E-mail: artemifat@gmail.com

at the INEOS RAS.

E-mail: o.i.afanasyev@gmail.com

8. Alcohol isomerization reactions	15
8.1. Isomerization of allylic alcohols to ketones	15
8.2. Racemization of chiral alcohols	16
9. Synthesis of amides from alcohols	
and amines	16
10. C-H activation reactions	17
10.1. C-H activation of aliphatic alcohols	17
10.2. C-H activation in the aromatic ring	18
11. Reactions proceeding via carbene-like intermediates	18
12. Miscellaneous reactions	19
13. Conclusion	20
14. List of abbreviations	21
15. References	21

metal can significantly influence catalytic activity of the complex. Fagnou and Lautens<sup>11</sup> presented a thorough investigation of such effects on the examples of various reactions. Chiusoli and co-workers<sup>12</sup> summarized the data on the addition of iodide to reaction mixtures and concluded that it can sometimes increase the activity of a catalyst due to the following factors:

1) Activation of an organic substrate. For example, a crucial step in the Monsanto process is the conversion of methanol into methyl iodide, which is more prone to oxidative addition;

2) The superior  $\sigma$ -donating ability of iodine. This increases the electron density on a metal centre, thus enhancing its

Current research interests: reductive formation of carbon-carbon and carbon-heteroatom bonds, new approaches to reduction in organic chemistry, total synthesis. Current research interests: reductive reactions in organic synthesis, D.A.Chusov. Doctor of Chemical Sciences, Head of the Laboratory of Effective Catalysis at the INEOS RAS. O.I.Afanasyev. Candidate of Chemical Sciences, Senior Researcher E-mail: denis.chusov@gmail.com Current research interests: design of high-performance catalytic systems, the development of atom-economic organic reactions, total synthesis.

catalysis, total synthesis.

Ι Halogen F C1 Br Electronegativity 3.98 3.16 2.96 2.66 Conical radius, Å 0.914 0.709 1.142 1.333 Conical angle, ° 92 102 105 107

 Table 1. Electronegativities and some steric characteristics of halogens.

nucleophilicity. As a result, oxidative addition proceeds more smoothly.

Redox potentials may also affect catalytic reaction rate. For example, a change in the halogen environment of the metal changes the potential of the transition by more than 0.2 V, as exemplified by the Ru(III)/Ru(II) transitions (Fig. 1).<sup>13</sup>

This review considers the works devoted to catalysts based on Ru-Hal (Hal = I, Cl) complexes and compare the properties of these compounds depending on the halogen atom. In addition, it was of interest to find out in which cases the replacement of chlorine with iodine leads to an improvement (or deterioration) in the activity and/or selectivity of the catalyst. The reason for choosing the I-Cl pair is that it allows a representative comparison due to the amount of available data, which is sufficient, but not overwhelming. As for other halogens, fluorine also enables the design of high-performance catalysts. However, its specific electronic features and ability to form oligomers complicate matters, as these oligomers may serve as catalyst resting states.14 Catalysts bearing Ru-Br bonds are represented in the literature rather sporadically and require further investigation. Therefore, we focused on studying the halogen effect by comparing the catalytic behaviour of iodine- and chlorine-containing complexes.

Table 2. Distribution of works using Ru–I catalysts, classified by reaction type.

Reaction	Amount of publications
Ketone reduction	33
Metathesis	19
Reduction of C-C bonds	12
Reduction of heterocycles and Schiff bases	11
Oxidation	9
Reduction of C-N bonds	5
C-H activation	5
Alcohol isomerization	4
Carbene reactions	3
Amide synthesis from amines and alcohols	2
Miscellaneous	9
Total	112



Figure 1. Cyclic voltammetry data for Ru-X complexes *cis*-(CO)-*trans*-(X)-[ $Ru(CO)_2(HL)X_2$ ].

The literature survey revealed the following distribution of studies on Ru-I catalysts by reaction classes (Table 2). We categorized the available data on the application of Ru-I bond containing catalysts by reaction type from the most to the least frequently described in the literature.

### 2. Reduction of C=O bonds

The known reactions of ketones reduction can be divided in three groups:

1) Catalytical hydrogenation. Most of these works are aimed at finding ways to make these reactions enantioselective;

2) Hydrogen transfer, Meerwein-Ponndorf-Verley-type reactions;

3) Miscellaneous reactions.

#### 2.1. Catalytic hydrogenation of ketones

The history of the development of methods for the catalytic hydrogenation of ketones goes back to Noyori's works. In one of his early papers, a comparison of the neutral complexes  $RuX_2$ (S-BINAP) for X = Cl, I is given (Scheme 1).<sup>15</sup>



S-BINAP

Both catalysts showed the same efficiency, though the chloride-substituted one operated at a slightly lower pressure (83 vs. 100 atm). Unfortunately, the data provided are insufficient to allow a reliable estimate of the difference in the catalytic activity to be made.

Cationic BINAP-ruthenium complexes were applied to the reduction of  $\beta$ -ketoesters (Scheme 2).<sup>16,17</sup> All catalysts **1a**–**c** tested gave a 100% conversion of methyl acetoacetate, although the iodide complex **1b** was used at a slightly higher temperature than its chloride counterpart **1a**; on the other hand, the reaction with **1b** ran faster. The variation in multiple reaction parameters does not allow claiming a significant difference in enantioselectivity between the catalysts. Catalyst **1c** also performed well in *N*,*N*-dimethyl aminoacetone reduction.

Yamamoto *et al.*<sup>18</sup> investigated the effect of a donor substituent in a phosphine ligand on the catalyst activity. Ligands **2a**,**b** were synthesized and the effect of their *in situ* addition to  $[(p-cymene)RuI_2]_2$ -catalyzed reactions was studied (Scheme 3). As the reference ligand, (*R*)-BINAP was used. The catalysts **2a** and **2b** showed comparable performances in the reference system.

Interestingly, Chiba *et al.*<sup>19</sup> demonstrated the possibility of the similar conversion of  $\alpha$ -ketoesters (Scheme 4). In this case, the halogen nature turned out to be crucial for both the activity and the selectivity of a catalytic system. The iodide complex delivered an enantiopure product in quantitative yield, whereas its chloride counterpart gave a 13% conversion with a low *ee*.

The authors also noted, referring to the unpublished data, that they had observed the reverse pattern when performing an







analogous reaction with BINAP ligands with the chloride ligand proving superior to the iodide one. The chloride complex also showed slightly higher enantioselectivity in the reduction of  $\alpha$ -ketoamides under the same conditions.

Complexes of the same type were successfully employed by Trost et al.<sup>20</sup> in a total synthesis of (-)-pseudolaric acid B to reduce a cyclic b-ketoester (yield 95%, ee >90%).

Benincori et al.21 synthesized a series of Ru-I complexes with thiophene-substituted phosphine ligands (tetraMe-BITIOP) and tested them in the homogeneous hydrogenation of prostereogenic carbonyl functions in  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -ketoesters (Scheme 5). Various substrates underwent the reaction in high yields and with excellent enantioselectivities. Interestingly, a proton acid addition proved to be crucial for the cyclic substrate: ee did not exceed 62% in the absence of CF<sub>3</sub>COOH.

Scheme 5



Weissensteiner and co-workers<sup>22</sup> synthesized biferrocene analogues of Ru(II)-BINAP complexes. It was found that the introduction of strong donor groups into aromatic rings of phosphine ligands decreased enantioselectivity of the hydrogenation of ethyl acetylacetate (Scheme 6). Further studies

Scheme 6





on this subject gave rise to a series of ferrocenylphosphine ligands, which, when added to  $[(p-cymene)RuI_2]_2$ , allow hydrogenation with excellent enantioselectivity.<sup>23–30</sup>

Ma et al.31 developed a synthetic approach to dendritic BINAP G<sub>n</sub>-BINAP. The corresponding ligands,  $[Ru(G_n-BINAP)]$ complexes in situ obtained from  $[(p-cymene)RuI_2]_2,$ provided highly enantioselective hydrogenation of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -ketoesters, where the second- and third generation catalysts (G<sub>2</sub>, G<sub>3</sub>) performed best (Scheme 7).

Ruthenium-halide complexes can also be applied to the hydrogenation of acids to alcohols (Scheme 8).<sup>32</sup> Chloride and iodide Ru complexes showed similar moderate activity.





Madduri and Minnaard<sup>29</sup> compared the performance of catalytic systems based on  $[(p-cymene)RuHal_2]_2$  complexes (Hal = Cl, I) with (*S*)-Tol-BINAP and (*R*)-3,5-xylyl-BINAP ligands in the hydrogenation of cyclic  $\beta$ -ketoester (Scheme 9). All the halogen–ligand combinations tested demonstrated

similar efficiency. As compared to the above-mentioned method by Benincori *et al.*<sup>21</sup> (see Scheme 5), this protocol allows a slightly better diastereoselectivity, though at a higher catalyst loading.



In other reported examples of the C=O bond hydrogenation in the presence of the Ru–I catalysts bearing phosphine ligands, the yields and enantioselectivities were as high as in the examples considered above.<sup>25,33–36</sup>

Slade *et al.*<sup>37</sup> obtained complexes with inositol-derived ligands and applied them to the ketone reduction. These catalysts provided rather poor enantioselectivities. The use of iodine complexes led to a slightly higher conversion (Scheme 10).

Carrying out reactions in aqueous medium is becoming increasingly important from a green chemistry perspective. Li and co-workers<sup>38</sup> successfully developed such a method for the reduction of ketoesters using sodium 5,5'-disulfonato (*S*)-BINAP ligand (Scheme 11). The process gives excellent yields and enantioselectivity. It should be noted that the water-soluble catalyst exhibited a very high catalytic stability in H<sub>2</sub>O. It was



Scheme 11





found that the reaction is promoted by the addition of sodium iodide in 100-fold excess with respect to Ru.

Thus, in most cases of the C=O bond hydrogenation there is little effect of halogen nature on catalyst activity and selectivity. In the one case<sup>19</sup> when such an effect is significant, is the reaction outcome strongly, up to complete reversion, is affected by the nature of other ligands. The choice between Ru–Cl and Ru–I complexes is largely due to their relative availability.

#### 2.2. Transfer hydrogenation of ketones

Transfer hydrogenation is another approach to the reduction of ketones that is widely represented in the literature. Such reactions are usually carried out in isopropanol used as the hydrogen source in the presence of a strong base at  $60-80^{\circ}$ C.

In 2008, Zeng and Yu<sup>39</sup> developed NNC-pincer Ru complexes  $4\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{c}$  with pyrazolyl N-heterocyclic carbene ligands and investigated their activity in transfer hydrogenation of ketones (Scheme 12). Complexes  $4\mathbf{b}$ ,  $\mathbf{c}$  were found to be superior to their analogue  $4\mathbf{a}$ . Catalysis with  $4\mathbf{b}$  afforded aromatic alcohols in 83-99% yields. The exception was *o*-bromoacetophenone, which give only 16% of the target product. Aliphatic ketones (cyclopentanone, cyclohexanone, n-hexyl methyl ketone) were also successfully reduced with excellent yields (95–100%) in 1.5–5 hours.

In 2011, Li *et al.*<sup>40</sup> explored CNC-pincer bis-carbene Ru complexes **5a,b** with triazolyl ligands and compared their performance in the transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone (Scheme 13). It was found that the reaction runs faster when catalyzed by a complex with a bulkier ligand (**5b**). The authors suggested that this is due to the coordination saturation of the complexes, which is the reason for the reaction to proceed *via* a

dissociative mechanism: the introduction of the bulky isopropyl group lengthens the metal–ligand distances (according to X-ray diffraction analysis), thus facilitating the ligand removal.

Remarkably, Naziruddin *et al.*,<sup>41</sup> who studied the catalytical properties of the closely related CCC-pincer bis-carbene Ru complexes **6a,b**, observed the opposite tendency: the less hindered complex **6b** proved to be more active than **6a** (Scheme 14).



It was found that the reaction runs faster in the presence of the catalyst **6b**, especially in the case of acetophenone. This can be related to the fact that there is a CO ligand in the *trans* position to the halogen: the strong *trans*-effect of iodine facilitates the CO dissociation from the complex better than the analogous effect of bromine despite the fact that the latter is enhanced by the steric effect of Bu<sup>n</sup> group.

Samuelson and co-workers<sup>42</sup> used cyclometallated Ru halfsandwich complexes 7a-g in the transfer hydrogenation of aromatic ketones (Scheme 15). An iodine complex (7g) was less active than others, while there was no noticeable distinction between compounds 7a-f. This fact, along with results of the recyclability test, led the authors to conclusion that the complexes 7a-f are precatalysts, which are transformed into catalytically active nanoparticles, which in turn decompose in the course of the reaction. This was confirmed by the kinetic profile of the reaction (with an obvious induction period), the rapid colour change of the reaction mixture, the poisoning of the catalyst by phenanthroline, the reduction of aromatic nitro groups under the reaction conditions, and the drastic decrease in catalyst performance when reused. The presence of nanoparticles was confirmed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). The lower activity of iodine complex 7g could be related to its low solubility.

At the same time, similar complexes 8a-b studied by Citta *et al.*<sup>43</sup> most likely work in a homogeneous mode (see



Scheme 15). Reasons for this idea are the retention of aromatic nitro group under the reaction conditions and a rather limited influence of phenanthroline addition on the catalyst's performance (which would be poisoned if it were heterogeneous). It was found that the iodide catalyst performs better than the chloride one, especially at low reaction times. A plausible explanation is that it is due to the better leaving ability of iodide.<sup>44,45</sup>

Cesari *et al.*<sup>46</sup> studied transfer hydrogenation of ketones in imidazolium ionic liquids (ILs) (Scheme 16). Interestingly, the neutral Ru complex shows no catalytic activity even in the IL media, whereas ion pairs **9a,b** composed of the anionic Ru complex and imidazolium cation act as a pre-catalyst. The authors found that the steric bulk of a cation and the anion nature do not affect the performance of a catalyst. Nevertheless, it can be noted that the chloride catalyst performs slightly better.



Virboul *et al.*<sup>47</sup> developed a synthetic approach to a watersoluble sulfonate-appended ruthenium(II)  $\eta^6$ -arene complex **10** and studied its application in the asymmetric transfer hydrogenation of acetophenone in aqueous medium using sodium formate as the hydrogen donor (Scheme 17). Complex **10** proved to be an effective catalyst and afforded (*S*)phenylethanol in nearly quantitative yield and 94% *ee.* The choice of the complex with an iodide ligand was dictated by its easier availability compared to its chloride analogue.

To conclude, the rate of dissociation of a ligand from the catalytic complex is important. Replacement of chloride with iodide improves the catalytic activity if it accelerates the elimination of a ligand.



#### 2.3. Miscellaneous reactions of ketone reduction

Plietker and co-workers<sup>48</sup> reported a remarkable example of a selectivity switch in deuteration of polyfunctional organic molecules. Depending on the additive in choice (CuI, KOH, Zn powder), the precatalyst [RuCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>] is converted into complexes **11a**-**c**, which behave differently in the H–D exchange reactions: **11a** catalyzes the reduction of alkynes, **11b** catalyzes the reduction of carbonyl groups; **11a** works in both C(sp<sup>3</sup>)- and C(sp<sup>2</sup>)–H activation, whereas **11c** was active in C(sp<sup>2</sup>)–H activation only (Scheme 18).





From the above data it can be seen that it is a ligand dissociation step that often determines the reaction rate. In such case, replacing chlorine with iodine can improve the catalyst activity by weakening the metal-ligand bond. Such a weakening can result from a stronger iodine *trans*-effect (Scheme 19, reaction a), or from the fact that iodide ion itself is a better leaving group than chloride one (see Scheme 19, reaction b). This effect is clearly observable for the transfer hydrogenation of carbonyl compounds. At the same time, for the catalytic hydrogenation of carbonyl compounds, the halogen effect appears to be less considerable, leading to insignificant and/or non-monotonous relationship between the halogen ligand nature and catalysts activity (see Scheme 19, reaction c).



## 3. Reduction of multiple carbon-carbon bonds

The reduction of multiple C–C bonds in the presence of Ru–I-containing catalysts are usually the reactions of hydrogenation. The majority of publications focus on achieving high stereoselectivity of the process. Activated (*i.e.* conjugated with electron-withdrawing groups (EWGs)) alkenes are the most common substrates for such reactions. In addition to alkene hydrogenation, alkyne hydrogenation to *E*-alkenes and alkenes reduction with formate have been reported.

Sometimes the hydrogenation of C=C bonds has been investigated in parallel to C=O reduction under similar conditions, *e.g.*, in the cited publications.<sup>16–18,25,33–35</sup> For example, geraniol and  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated acids were hydrogenated in high yields and with good selectivity using complex **1c** (see Schemes 2, 20).



Cesarotti *et al.*<sup>33</sup> carried out asymmetric hydrogenation of C=C double bonds catalyzed by chloride- and iodide-containing Ru(II) catalysts with a chiral diphosphine ligand **12** and compared their activity (Scheme 21). The authors noted that the chloride-containing complex  $\text{RuCl}_2(\text{DMF})_n$  clearly shows better enantioselectivity than the iodide-containing [(*p*-cymene)RuI<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub>, although did not offer any explanation for this.

Yoshikawa *et al.*<sup>49</sup> showed that replacing the phosphine substituents in the ligand complex with more donor moieties (*e.g.*, PPh<sub>2</sub> to PCy<sub>2</sub>) in the asymmetric hydrogenation of  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carboxylic acids significantly decreases the yield



(Scheme 22). A similar trend was also observed in the reduction of the C=O bond.<sup>34</sup>

Other research in this direction has been performed by Benincori *et al.*<sup>50,51</sup> Their group developed bis(diphenyl-phosphino) heteroaryl ligands and successfully used them in the total synthesis of (-)-(S,S)-7-hydroxycalamenal.

Piscopo *et al.*<sup>52</sup> developed a protocol for the diastereoselective hydrogenation of an activated alkene under phase transfer catalysis conditions (Scheme 23). A convenient procedure for isolating the target product appears to be a considerable advantage of the method; the product enters the water phase (in the form of sodium salt) and can be precipitated on acidification, while the catalyst remains in the organic layer.

Ohta *et al.*<sup>53</sup> carried out the hydrogenation of a formally inactivated double bond in 1,1-disubstituted alkenes using BINAP-Ru(II) catalysts (Scheme 24). Under these conditions,



two concurrent processes were observed: reduction and migration of the double bond to the ring.

The Ru–I complex provided selective isomerization, whereas Ru–Cl complex gave rise to a mixture of the products in almost equal proportions. The authors note that the isomerization is not due to the protic species that could form in the process but involves metal hydride species.

Bolaño et al.54 carried out the transfer hydrogenation of activated alkenes using half-sandwich Ru-cyclopentadienyl complexes containing the cage-like water soluble monodentate phosphine 1,3,5-triaza-7-phosphaadamantane (PTA) (Scheme 25). The model reaction with benzylideneacetone showed that the replacement of chloride with iodide in Cp-based complexes [CpRuHal(PTA)<sub>2</sub>] had no significant effect on the hydrogenation outcome, although a slightly better selectivity to ketone was observed in the case of iodide-containing catalyst [CpRuI(PTA)2]. At the same time, the use of the [Cp\*RuCl(PTA)<sub>2</sub>] catalyst changed the situation radically providing the highest selectivity to ketone. However, an attempt to use it for cinnamaldehyde hydrogenation resulted in the unselective reduction of C=O and C=C bonds. Unfortunately, the authors did not obtain and test a similar catalyst [Cp\*RuI(PTA)<sub>2</sub>].



Yadav et al.55 described the method for the transfer hydrogenation of both internal and terminal alkynes to alkenes using complex 13 containing an annulated p-conjugated imidazo-naphthyridine-based mesoionic carbene ligand (Scheme 26). A remarkable feature of this protocol is that it yields *E*-alkenes from internal alkynes, contrary to the usual stereoselectivity of catalytical hydrogenation methods and tolerates a number of reducible functional groups. The isomerization of Z-alkenes to their E-isomers was also observed under the reaction conditions. Based on this observation and the data on reaction kinetics, the authors supposed there are two catalytical cycles in the system: first, the starting material is reduced to Z-alkene. The latter isomerizes to the thermodynamically stable E-product via hydrogenation-rotation about the C-C bond — dehydrogenation sequence.



Thus, most reported applications of the catalysts with Ru-I bond to the reduction of carbon-carbon bonds are the protocols for alkene reduction. In addition, the pool of substrates is in most cases restricted to alkenes bearing strong electron-withdrawing groups. In the case of unactivated substrates, even a double bond as labile as exomethylene one is prone to simultaneous isomerization, and the catalyst bearing an iodine ligand shifts the selectivity completely towards the isomerization.

#### 4. Reduction of heterocycles and Schiff bases

All the work mentioned in this Section is by the Zhou's group. Technically, the reduction looks like hydrogenation in these works, but actually it is realized through the hydrogen borrowing from an organic reducing agent followed by its regeneration *via* hydrogenation.

The first publication on this subject described the highly enantioselective reduction of quinoxalines using a metal/ Brønsted acid relay catalysis system.<sup>56</sup> It was found that the process proceeds in two steps: at first, the starting material is hydrogenated to dihydroquinoxaline, which in turn disproportionates to the starting material and the target tetrahydroquinoxaline in the presence of a Ru catalyst with ligand **14a** (a chiral Brønsted acid) (Scheme 27). The similar idea was then successfully applied to the reduction of benzoxazinones using the Hantzsch ester (HEH) as the hydrogen carrier and a chiral catalyst with ligand **14b** (Scheme 28).<sup>57</sup>



Scheme 28





The next step in this work was to change the Hantzsch ester for phenanthridine (PD) as a hydrogen-transferring shuttle (Scheme 29, reactions a-c).<sup>58</sup> Such a replacement allowed for a decrease in the reaction temperature and broadened the set of suitable substrates improving functional group tolerance.



Noteworthy, this also led to the inversion of the enantioselectivity of the process.

Other reported reactions implemented in the same nicotinamide adenine dinucleotidephosphate NADP(H)mimetic fashion include the synthesis of tetrahydroquinolines<sup>59</sup> and the reduction of cyclic Schiff bases.<sup>60</sup>

The reactions described in this Section can be generalized by the Scheme 30. A hydrogen carrier reduces a substrate in the presence of a chiral acid catalyst leading to a chiral product (see Scheme 30, reaction a). The oxidized form of the carrier is then reduced by hydrogen. However, there is another way to get the similar product, that is, to use an achiral acid as a catalyst for hydrogenation, together with a chiral hydrogen carrier (see Scheme 30, reaction b). Implementations of this model are the subject of the rest of this Section.

For example, the use of a chiral derivative of ferrocene **16** with a readily available Lewis acid as an achiral transfer catalyst





allowed for the asymmetric reduction of benzoxazinones and coumarins under mild conditions in good yields and high enantioselectivity (Scheme 31).<sup>61</sup> The reaction performance, however, degraded when there was an aliphatic substituent (*e.g.*,  $R^1 = Et$ , reaction *a*,  $R^2 = Me$ , reaction *b*, yields 57 and 48, respectively) in the heterocycle. For benzoxazinones this issue was later solved by using protic acids such as hydrophosphoryl compounds **17a,b** instead of Lewis acids (Scheme 32).<sup>62</sup> Later, similar protocols were developed for the reduction of quinazolinones,<sup>63</sup> quinolines,<sup>64</sup> indenones <sup>65</sup> and for the reductive alkylation of flavonoids.<sup>66</sup>





An example of the use of a protocol of this kind for the reduction of an acyclic compound is the asymmetric reduction of triple bond-conjugated fluorinated Schiff bases (Scheme 33).<sup>67</sup> The triple bond remains intact; however, the reaction is quite sensitive to the structure of a substrate: for example, the replacement of a perfluoroalkyl group with a non-fluorinated ester functionality leads to a drastic decrease both in the reaction yield and stereoselectivity ( $R = CO_2Et$ ,  $Ar = 4-MeOC_6H_4$ , yield 26%, 36% *ee*).

To sum up, there is a series of papers dedicated to the transfer hydrogenation of heterocycles, that is of great interest as an example of mimicking the biochemical processes (*i.e.*, NADand FAD-mediated reactions). However, the role of ruthenium catalysts here is auxiliary and comes down just to the regeneration of the reduced form of a carrier molecule.

## 5. Reductive C–N coupling

The processes of this class described in the literature can be divided into several groups. The most straightforward one is represented by the Schiff base hydrogenation. The methylation of aldehydes using formaldehyde as both  $C_1$ -synthone and reducing agent is the second group. Reductive amination without an external hydrogen source falls into the third one. In addition, the catalytic reactions of C-N amine-alcohol coupling, although not technically redox transformations, proceed *via* redox steps and are therefore also discussed in this Section.

Van der Waals *et al.*<sup>68</sup> developed a method for amine methylation using paraform in aqueous media (Scheme 34). The iodide complex of ruthenium was found to provide slightly better yields than its chloride analogue. Both primary and secondary (including cyclic) amines perform well in the reaction.



Semwal and Choudhury<sup>69</sup> found a catalyst that is a Ru(II)based molecular switch existing in two forms **18a,b** (Scheme 35, reaction *a*) and can catalyze either the dehydrogenative coupling of two molecules of amine to furnish the Schiff base (see Scheme 35, reaction *b*) or the Schiff base hydrogenation (see Scheme 35, reaction *c*). The reaction *b* proceeds much better in the presence of the Ru-imino state **18a**, whereas the reaction *c* is catalyzed by the Ru-amido state **18b**. Interestingly, the reaction *c* can be carried out equally well either



with **18b** or with the same loading of **18a** by adding triethylamine in the reaction. Similarly, the catalytic hydrogenation of a Schiff base (see Scheme 35, reaction c) was catalyzed either by **18b**, or by **18a** in the presence of trifluoroacetic acid. The **18a**  $\leftrightarrow$  **18b** transformations upon base/acid addition were confirmed by UV-VIS-spectroscopy. The authors also showed an example of an assisted tandem catalysis and applied this system for a twostep one-pot synthesis of symmetric amines. First, benzylamine was converted to the corresponding Schiff base using **18a**. Then, in the presence of **18b** and when adding triethylamine, hydrogenation gave the desired amine product in good yield (see Scheme 35, reaction d).

Chusov and co-workers<sup>70</sup> demonstrated the possibility to boost the catalytic activity by replacing chloride with iodide in the structure of a Ru catalyst for the reductive amination without an external hydrogen source (Scheme 36). The iodide catalyst turned out to be up to 15 times more active than its chloride counterpart. The corresponding increase in the yield (as compared to [(p-cymene)RuCl<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub>) was observed for both [(p-cymene)RuI<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub> and [(p-cymene)RuCl<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub>+KI systems (the latter implying the in situ generation of Ru-I species). However, for a few substrates [(p-cymene)RuI<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub> proved more efficient than  $[(p-cymene)RuCl_2]_2 + KI$ ; this fact can be attributed to the possible side reactions induced by the excess of free iodide ions. The authors suppose  $[Ru(CO)_3X_3]^-$  (X = Cl, I; the particle detected by ESI-MS) to be the real catalyst. The increased activity of the iodide complex can be explained by faster iodide substitution via a dissociative mechanism.

McGowan and co-workers,<sup>71</sup> studying hydrogen-borrowing alcohol-amine coupling, observed another example of the catalyst activation triggered by the swapping chlorine to iodine.



dppf is 1,1-bis(diphenylphosphino)ferrocene

A monomeric complex with iodine provided 88% reaction conversion in 3 h, while the same complex with chloride took 9 h to achieve the same result (Scheme 37).

Quite the opposite effect was reported for a fairly similar reaction by Rigo and co-workers<sup>72</sup> (Scheme 38). The Ru complex with X = Cl gave the desired product quantitatively, whereas its iodide analogue was almost completely inactive. We can propose the nature of a solvent as a reason for such an inversion: methanol solvates anions better than toluene, thus mitigating the leaving group effect and giving way to some other factors that determine the activity of a catalyst.



From the above data we conclude that replacing chloride with iodide in the catalyst molecule usually increases its activity in C-N coupling reactions. This conclusion is consistent to our view of dissociative mechanism for substitution in Ru complexes, although there are exceptions due to the variety of possible reaction pathways.

#### 6. Oxidation reactions

The oxidation reactions carried out with Ru-I catalysts are the reactions of C-O bond dehydrogenation. They can be divided into two groups:

1) Dehydrogenation reactions in which hydrogen leaves as a molecule of  $H_2$ ;

2) Dehydrogenation reactions using a molecular oxidant to abstract hydrogen.

An example of a process of the first type has been reported by Verpoort and co-workers <sup>73,74</sup> and concerned the dehydrogenative coupling of primary alcohols and hydroxide to afford carboxylic acids (Scheme 39). The NHC-based Ru–I catalyst **19** demonstrated remarkable efficiency with TON of up to 32800 together with the lowest loadings (250 ppm) ever reported for this reaction. Another advantage of this catalyst is that it allows carrying out dehydrogenation in air and under neat conditions.

Scheme 39



Another example of the C–O dehydrogenation is the acceptorless and base-free dehydrogenation of cyanohydrins developed by Hong and co-workers (Scheme 40).<sup>75</sup> Decyanation affording aldehydes was a notable side reaction in the process. A Ru–Cl bidentate phosphine complex performed better in this case, although the presumable mechanism includes halogenide substitution by alkoxide as the first step. It was found that the substrate scope is limited to aromatic compounds, and the performance of the catalytic system is very substrate-dependent.



The catalytic oxidation of primary and secondary alcohols using N,N(S)-bidentate Ru(II)-halide-carbonyl complexes and *N*-methylmorpholine N-oxide (NMO) as the co-oxidant was explored by Sinha, Mondal and co-workers (Scheme 41).<sup>13,76–79</sup> Electrochemical parameters of Ru complexes **21a–d**, their frontier orbitals, and catalytic activity was studied. Among the imidazole-type complexes **21a,b**, those containing the Ru–Cl bond show higher activity, while in the case of compounds **21c,d**, the Ru–I complexes performed better. According to IR spectroscopy, the reaction proceeds *via* oxoruthenium species. The authors argue that the higher activity of the iodide complexes **21c,d** may be due to their lower oxidation potential (measured by cyclic voltammetry (CVA)). The decrease in the activity for



iodide complexes **21a**,**b** is explained by a probable partial consumption of NMO for the oxidation of iodide.

An application of ruthenium iodide complexes for electrochemical oxidation has been developed by McElwee–White and co-workers.<sup>80</sup> Nafion films with Ru complexes were adsorbed onto glass carbon electrodes, which could then be used for oxidizing ethanol to acetaldehyde or acetic acid.

To sum up, the Ru–Hal-catalyzed alcohol dehydrogenation and intermolecular oxidation have been reported. For the latter, a comparison between Ru–Cl and Ru–I bond containing complexes led to the conclusion that the catalyst efficiency depends on the tradeoff between the ruthenium center redox lability (higher in the case of Ru–I) and the redox stability of the ligand environment (higher in the case of Ru–Cl).

### 7. Metathesis reactions

The reactions of metathesis draw thorough attention, especially in the context of the synthesis of polymers and biologically active compounds.<sup>81–89</sup> Ru–I bond containing catalysts have been used for metathesis reactions. The influence of halogen nature in general case is discussed by Grubbs and co-workers.<sup>90</sup> They proposed the metathesis pathway as depicted in Scheme 42 and argued that swapping X = Cl for X = I facilitates the reaction initiation as a phosphine ligand leaves the complex with iodide faster, perhaps due to the steric reasons. Nevertheless, the overall reaction is no faster or even slower with iodide complexes<sup>91</sup> as the  $k_{-1}/k_2$  ratio increases 100 times when chlorine is replaced with iodine. The reason for this increase is



unclear; however, the fact that *cis-trans* isomerization of halogens in the complex, required for alkene coordination, is hampered in Ru–I complexes due to the steric reason is cited as a feasible explanation.

The metathesis reactions described in the literature can be classified as follows:

1) Ring-opening cross-metathesis (ROCM) reactions;

2) Ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) reactions;

3) Ring closure metathesis (RCM) reactions.

The works dealing with these reactions are aimed at the improvement in reaction selectivity (*e.g.*, RCM *vs* polymerization). Some publications on RCM report enantioselective protocols. A review of these research is given below.

#### 7.1. Ring-opening cross-metathesis reactions

The activity of Ru-I bond containing complexes in this class of reactions has been studied by Hoveyda and co-workers.92-95 The authors developed catalytic systems, provided an example of their application in total synthesis of Baconipyrone C and investigated the mechanism of the rearrangement of stereoisomers of Ru complexes with chirality on the metal atom. A comparison between analogous Ru-Cl and Ru-I complexes 22a,b in enantioselective ring-opening metathesis/crossmetathesis is given in Scheme 43. It is clear that although both 22a and 22b are suitable catalysts for the reaction but Ru-I complex 22b allows higher yields and enantioselectivities. The improvement in enantioselectivity can be explained by the higher steric hindrance of the complex with iodide; an increase in the yield may be due to the higher stability of the complex. The authors note that both Ru-Cl and Ru-I complexes generated in situ are as effective as pre-prepared ones in this reaction. Noteworthy, 22b is stable under air and column chromatography conditions, whereas 22a, its Ru-Cl counterpart, is not.



## 7.2. Ring-opening metathesis polymerization reactions

An early example of ROMP transformation was described by Slugovc and co-workers<sup>96</sup> (Scheme 44). It can be seen that the Ru–Cl catalyst initiates the polymerization of a cyclic alkene at room temperature while its Ru–I counterpart does not provide full conversion even when heated to 80°C for 19 h. The lower value of the number average molecular weight ( $M_n$ ) implies the lower rate of the initiation in the case of the iodide complex.



This is consistent with the idea of the higher activity of Ru–Cl complexes due to a higher  $k_2/k_{-1}$  (see Scheme 42) ratio mentioned above (see the beginning of Section 7). In the case of polymerization, it is convenient to mix all the reactants and the catalyst under conditions where the reaction does not proceed, homogenize the mixture effectively, and then activate the catalyst by changing the conditions. Scheme 45 shows that this can be achieved using a Ru–I catalyst instead of its Ru–Cl analogue and thermal activation. This approach of latent metathesis has been successfully implemented by Grubbs and co-workers.<sup>97</sup> The authors designed a system based on catalyst **24** that is completely inert at rt but at 85°C gives high conversion of the substrate in only 2 h (see Scheme 45). Even better results were obtained when the corresponding imide was used instead



of the anhydride: in this case the authors observed the full conversion of the monomer.

In the selective synthesis of a syndiotactic polymer, Ru–Cl and Ru–I catalysts did not show any significant difference in selectivity.<sup>98</sup>

Lemcoff and co-workers<sup>99</sup> developed a catalytic system for olefin metathesis reactions that is latent under standard conditions and becomes activated when illuminated with green (510 nm) light (Scheme 46). The irradiation sets off the *in situ* exchange of I in the precatalyst **25** for Cl (the latter comes from Cl-BODIPY) and subsequent *trans*-isomerization to give the resulting active *cis*-diiodo complex.



Thus, swapping Cl for I in the structures of Ru catalysts could be useful for designing of latent catalytic systems that are inert under standard conditions.

#### 7.3. Ring closure metathesis reactions

As with catalysts for ROMP reactions, Ru–I complexes may also be used for RCM reactions as latent catalysts that can be conveniently stored.

For example, Gawin and Grela<sup>100</sup> described the carboxylate complex **26a** (Scheme 47). This complex is inactive in metathesis reactions *per se*, but can be stored in solution for months and can be turned into an active catalyst **26b** by mere addition of one equivalent of HCl in ether. Complex **26b** was also compared to its 'purely chloric' counterpart **26c**. As could



be expected from previously discussed data and considerations, **26c** performs slightly better.

In the follow-up study,<sup>101</sup> a similar catalyst containing a quaternary benzimidazolium fragment was developed. This allowed a more convenient procedure for the separation of product from the catalyst.

In some cases, a Ru–I complex can be more effective due to its higher stability in the reaction mixture as shown by Skowerski and co-workers.<sup>102</sup> Of the two nitro Grela-type catalysts, **27a**,**b** it is actually the chloride complex **27a** that is more active, providing a two times higher conversion at the third minute of the reaction. However, at long reaction times, more stable iodide complex **27b** is superior, giving over 90% conversion (Scheme 48).



The group of Lemcoff<sup>103–105</sup> explored thioanalogues of Grubbs–Hoveyda catalysts. Iodide complexes require thermal or light activation to turn into their active forms (Scheme 49). It is noted that the catalysts of type **25** do not catalyze ROMP of cyclic alkenes under the reaction conditions. A protocol for the synthesis of macrocyclic lactones using such complexes *via* RCM of various acyclic dienes is also reported.



The first example of enantioselective Ru-catalyzed olefin RCM has been reported by Grubbs and co-workers.<sup>106</sup> *In situ* addition of an iodide ion deteriorates the conversion of the starting material, but improves enantioselectivity, probably for steric reasons (Scheme 50). The overall result is strongly dependent on the starting alkene identity.

Fogg and co-workers<sup>107</sup> described the synthesis of macrocyclic esters *via* RCM The Ru–I catalyst **29b** gives a better result than its Ru–Cl analogue **29a** does due to its superior stability (Scheme 51). RCM reactions that deliver macrocyclic esters are of great practical interest, but their scale-up is hampered by the fact that ethylene is formed in too large quantities to be effectively removed from the reaction mixture during the course of the reaction. The presence of ethylene triggers side reactions of cross metathesis and destabilizes the catalyst forming a complex with a methylene unit coordinated to Ru. The problem of ethylene removal was solved by Bio and







co-workers<sup>108</sup> who managed to achieve a continuous RCM process. As in the previous example, a more stable Ru-I complex proved to be more effective (Scheme 52).

In summary, Ru-Cl metathesis catalysts are generally more active than their Ru-I counterparts for the reasons discussed at the beginning of this Section. However, there are examples where the catalyst's stability is of primary importance (*i.e.* higher yields are obtained on Ru-I catalysts).

In those instances where stereoselectivity makes sense, Ru–I catalysts tend to be more stereoselective for steric reasons.

### 8. Alcohol isomerization reactions

This Section highlights the isomerization of allylic alcohols to ketones and the racemization of chiral alcohols.

#### 8.1. Isomerization of allylic alcohols to ketones

Gámez-Rivera *et al.*<sup>109</sup> described the rearrangement of allylic alcohols to ketones using mononuclear Ru(II) complexes **30a**,**b** with the bicyclic guanidinate chelating ligand. The reaction runs well with both Ru–Cl and Ru–I catalysts providing excellent



yields of the corresponding ketones (Scheme 53). The authors conclude that the halogen abstraction probably is not a vital stage of the reaction.

On the other hand, Gimeno and co-workers<sup>110</sup> carried out an analogous transformation in an aqueous medium using watersoluble Ru(II) complexes **31a,b**, and found that the nature of the atoms coordinated to Ru had a significant impact on the catalytic activity (Scheme 54). The positively charged Ru–Cl complex **31b** with an iodide counterion exhibits low activity due to the halogen exchange, which leads to a Ru–I complex that is latent in aqueous media. Under optimal conditions, only 15% yield was achieved in almost 3 h. The problem was solved by using non-coordinating SbF<sub>6</sub>, which do not substitute halogens in the coordination sphere of the metal. The Ru–Cl complex **31a** gives the desired product almost quantitatively in less than 2 h under the similar conditions.



The observed difference in the influence of the nature of the halogen on the catalyst efficiency can be explained by the better solvation of the anion in water than in organic solvents, which allows the rupture of the ruthenium–chlorine bond to occur more easily compared to the ruthenium-iodine bond in aqueous media.

### 8.2. Racemization of chiral alcohols

The reactions of this class are useful for obtaining a single isomer from a racemate. Dynamic kinetical resolution (DKR) is an example of application of the reactions of this kind: if a catalyst allows reaching equilibrium between enantiomers fast, then, for example, an enzyme can be used to obtain its enantiomerically pure derivatives as shown in Scheme 55.

Two examples of such transformation on Ru–I catalysts have been reported in the literature. For example, Bäckvall and co-workers<sup>111</sup> described a racemization of (*S*)-1-phenylethanol using pentaphenylcyclopentadienyl carbonyl Ru–Hal complexes **32a,b** (Scheme 56). The racemization rate was only slightly dependent on the halogen nature and for both catalysts **32a,b** the complete racemization was achieved in 15 min. At the



same time, the chloride complex **32a** performed slightly better and provides full racemization in just ten minutes.

A similar reaction was carried out by Park and co-workers<sup>112</sup> using O-alkyl analogues 33a-c of the above Ru complexes 32a,b. Ru–Br and Ru–I catalysts 33b,c were slightly less active than their chloride analogue 33a (Scheme 57). Moreover, anchoring the above catalysts to a polymer support *via* the OR group gave rise to heterogeneous catalysts for this reaction, which showed comparable activity in the racemization of alcohols with the advantage of effective recovery and reusability.



To summarize, Ru–Cl complexes are usually more effective than their Ru–I analogues in the reactions of the isomerization of alcohols.

# 9. Synthesis of amides from alcohols and amines

Studies on using Ru-Hal complexes in the catalysis of the direct synthesis of amides from alcohols and amines are also very few. We found only two such examples. In both cases, Ru-I complexes do not perform better than Ru-Cl catalysts.

For example, Hong and co-workers<sup>113</sup> described Ru complexes **34**, **35** with imidazolium-based NHC ligands (Scheme 58). A comparison of the catalytic activities of these complexes in the model reaction of amide synthesis revealed that replacing chlorine with iodine either slightly impairs the activity (*cf.* **34a**,**b**) or has no effect (*cf.* **35a**,**b**).

The situation changed dramatically when phosphines were added to the reaction mixture, as Madsen and co-workers<sup>114</sup> showed (Scheme 59). In the presence of  $PCy_3$ , the Ru–Cl



complex produced an amide in almost quantitative yield in 24 h, whereas the Ru–I catalyst gave less than 50% yield. At a reaction time of 3 h, the Ru–Cl catalyst was almost thrice more effective than the Ru–I one.

## 10. C-H activation reactions

C-H activation reactions carried out in the presence of catalysts containing the Ru-I bond can be divided into two groups:

1) C-H activation of *gem*-hydrogen of aliphatic alcohols towards addition reactions;

2) C-H activation of hydrogen in the aromatic ring.

These reactions will be discussed below.

## 10.1. C-H activation of aliphatic alcohols

This type of reactions has been studied by the Krische's group. In the context of our review, one of their papers<sup>115</sup> is of special interest as it describes complexes containing different halogens and provides an explanation for the observed halogen effect. In particular, the complex **37** catalyzes the coupling of allylic alcohols with triple bonds to afford homoallylic adducts (Scheme 60). Both the enantioselectivity and the yield of the product increases in a series Cl < Br < I. The authors managed to isolate the proposed catalytic species in all three cases and obtained X-ray crystallography data for them. It was found that



the Ru–I complex has a strictly defined structure (the iodine atom occupies the 'south' position, allyl is oriented 'upwards', Scheme 61), whereas Ru–Br and Ru–Cl complexes are actually mixtures of stereoisomers.

A well-determined structure may account for the better enantioselectivity. The authors argue that the higher yields can be explained by the steric reason and a non-classical hydrogen bond between the iodine and aldehyde hydrogen atoms stabilizing the transition state (Fig. 2). The existence of such a bond has been confirmed by quantum chemical calculations.

Other works of this research group describe similar reactions of the addition of alcohols to the multiple bonds of other compounds, *vis.*, alkynes, dienes and cumulenes.<sup>116–118</sup> In all the cases catalysts with Ru-I bonds were superior to complexes with other halogens in terms of both activity and selectivity.



**Figure 2.** Stabilization of the transition state by a non-classical hydrogen bond.

#### 10.2. C-H activation in the aromatic ring

Clavier and co-workers<sup>119</sup> reports reactions of the C–H activation in the aromatic ring using [RuHal<sub>2</sub>( $\eta^6$ -*p*-cumene)] complexes **38a,b** bearing phosphinous acid ligands. These reactions proved to be very sensitive to the nature of a halogen in a substrate. For example, the reaction with chlorobenzene is highly selective and gives the product in a good yield, while iodobenzene produces to a mixture of mono- and disubstituted products in less than 10% yield (Scheme 62). On the other hand, their results imply that the Ru–I complex **38b** is outperforms its Cl-containing analogue **38a**. Thus, the relationship between the reaction efficiency and the nature of halogens in a substrate and catalyst requires further investigation.



To sum up, in the case of halogen-containing carbonyl Ru complexes in the presence of JOSIPHOS ligands complexes with iodine are clearly superior to the Ru–Cl complexes in terms of both activity and selectivity due to their well-determined structures and hydrogen bonding. As for the aromatic C–H activation, a complex with iodine also shows better activity, although swapping chlorine for iodine in a substrate hampers the reaction.

## 11. Reactions proceeding *via* carbene-like intermediates

In this Section, we consider cyclopropanation reactions that proceed *via* the activation of a propargylic position, as well as the functionalization of 7-azaindoles at the pyridinium nitrogen on catalysts containing Ru-I bond.

Nishiyama *et al.*<sup>120</sup> studied asymmetric catalytic [2+1] cycloaddition of diazoacetates to alkenes using chiral Ru(II)bis-(2-oxazolin-2-yl)pyridine complexes 39a-c (Scheme 63). It was found that the transition from chlorine to bromine and especially iodine deteriorates both the activity and selectivity of the catalytic system.

Zhu *et al.*<sup>121</sup> solved the issue of chemo-, enantio-and diastereoselectivity in the allylic C–H activation *vs.* cyclopropanation of donor–donor carbene precursors (Scheme 64). The catalytic system  $[(p-cymene)RuCl_2]_2/L$  selectively catalyzes the intramolecular C–H allylic insertion with N-allylic enynones to give vinyl-substituted dihydroindoles. The replacement of chlorine with iodine was shown to be among the modifications turning the selectivity in favour of the C–H activation product.

Sun and co-workers<sup>122</sup> carried out the site-selective functionalization of the pyridine nitrogen of 7-azaindoles with diazoacetate on in the presence of  $[(p-cymene)RuX_2]_2$  (Scheme 65). It was found that the transition from chlorine to iodine under otherwise identical conditions leads to a more than







fourfold increase in the product yield (from 10 to 45%). Further optimization of the reaction condition with the iodide catalyst increased the yield of the target product up to 82%.

Taking these data into account, it can be assumed that Ru-Cl catalysts perform better in cyclopropanation reactions than their Ru-I counterparts. However, this conclusion is rather doubtful due to the small number of examples.

#### 12. Miscellaneous reactions

Reactions that we could not categorize into a general section are discussed here.

Furstner and co-workers <sup>123</sup> found that the hydrosilylation of unprotected propargylic alcohols in the presence of [Cp\*Ru(cod)Hal] (Hal = Cl, I) follows an unconventional *trans* addition mode (Scheme 66). Comparing the efficiencies of the Cl- and I-containing catalysts revealed that Ru–Cl catalyst provides a slightly higher product yield (85 *vs.* 79%), albeit at the expense of low regioselectivity between proximal and distal products.



A remarkable highly stereo- and regioselective silylation of styrenes with vinylsilanes in the presence of RuHCl(CO)(PCy<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> was reported by Kubicki and co-workers.<sup>124</sup> In this case, Cl- and I-containing catalysts showed equally high activity at an 1 mol.% loading, yielding the product quantitatively (Scheme 67). For Ru–Cl complex, the catalyst loading was decreased 20-fold with only a small decrease in the product yield.



Nishibayashi and co-workers<sup>125</sup> studied the catalytic performance of thiolato-bridged dihaloruthenium complexes  $[{Cp*RuX(\mu-SR)}_2]$  **37a-c** (X = Cl, Br, I) in propargylic substitution reactions of 1-phenyl-2-propyn-1-ol depending on the nature of a ruthenium-coordinated halogen atom (Scheme 68). It is clear that switching from chlorine to bromine and especially iodine strongly reduces the catalytic activity of the system. The authors explained such a marked halide effect on the catalytic activity by the significant difference in redox behaviour observed for **37a-c** by CVA. The reversible peaks are observed on the CVA curves of the complex **37a**, whereas an irreversible oxidation is registered for bromide and iodide compounds **37b,c**. This may be due to the instability of oxidized



catalytic species, which is the cause of the decrease in the activity of the catalysts.

An interesting reaction of quinoline assembly from two *o*-ethynylaniline molecules on binuclear Ru–Au catalysts **38a,b** was described by McElwhee-White and co-workers<sup>126</sup> (Scheme 69). Remarkably, the monometallic Au(I) catalyst produces an indole derivative, whereas the addition of a Ru–Hal centre to the catalyst molecule changes the reaction outcome. Catalyst **38b** proved to be more active than its Ru–Cl analogue **38a**, though only moderate yields were achieved.



Reactions that allow the use of CO as a C<sub>1</sub> synthon are of great importance. Hidai *et al.*<sup>127</sup> described an example of the direct synthesis of esters and ketones from carbon monoxide, alkenes and alcohols catalyzed by Ru–I systems (Scheme 70). The use of iodide promoters significantly increases the catalytic activity of the Ru precatalyst. Interestingly, ionic iodine salts, *e.g.*, Ph<sub>4</sub>PI (see Scheme 70, conditions *a*) addition provided an ester selectively, while in the presence of covalent iodine compounds (I<sub>2</sub>, see Scheme 70, conditions *b*), a mixture of the ester and diethyl ketone is formed The authors suggested that the reaction pathway involves [HRu<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>11</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [Ru(CO)<sub>3</sub>I<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> species, citing a paper by Dombek,<sup>128</sup> who identified these complexes by IR and NMR spectroscopy while studying the

#### Scheme 70



hydrogenation of CO to ethylene glycol using similar Ru-I catalytic system.

The group of Trivedi<sup>129</sup> developed a highly efficient homogeneous catalyst system for the acid-assisted hydrogenation of CO<sub>2</sub> to methanol based on halide Ru complexes 39a,b with a PTA ligand (Scheme 71). Here, Ru-I complex 39b proved to be more active than its chlorine counterpart **39a**. Using HNTf<sub>2</sub> as a promoter resulted in 95% CO<sub>2</sub> conversion to methanol.

Scheme 71

[( <i>p</i> -cymene)Ru(PTA)X <sub>2</sub> ] <b>39a</b> , <b>b</b>			ΓΑ)Χ <sub>2</sub> ] Χ	= CI ( <b>a</b> ), I ( <b>b</b> )			
$CO_2 + 3H_2 \xrightarrow{\text{cat., additive}} CH_3OH$							
	cat.	Additive	Conversio	n (%)			
	39a 39b 39b	MsOH MsOH HNTf <sub>2</sub>	36 49 95				

Sneddon and co-workers  $^{130,131}$  used  $[(p-cymene)RuX_2]_2$ (X = Cl, I) complexes in the hydroboration of acetylenes with decaborane (Scheme 72). In addition to the obvious gap between their activities, chlorine and iodine complexes demonstrated different regioselectivities: in the case of X = Cldecaborane adds to the terminal carbon of a triple bond, while with X = I it goes to the internal position. The authors suggested different reaction pathways for these two catalysts (Scheme 73). The reaction using Ru-Cl complex begins with the oxidative decaborane addition to form a metal-hydride Ru(IV) complex, which yields, after final reductive  $\beta$ -*E*-alkenyldecaborane elimination, (see Scheme 73. reaction a). As for the Ru-I complex, its reaction with decaborane involves first the dissociation of the iodide ion from the starting complex to give [(p-cymene)RuX]<sup>+</sup>, followed by the coordination of the alkyne to the resulting cationic species and subsequent reductive elimination to produce the  $\alpha$ -isomeric product (see Scheme 73, reaction b). This explanation is in agreement with our earlier conclusion about the greater tendency of ruthenium iodide complexes to reactions proceeding by dissociative mechanism.





## 13. Conclusion

Summarizing the whole body of data provided above we must confess that there seem to be no single principle that would give a clue to predict the effect of replacing chlorine with iodine in the structure of a Ru complex on its catalytic performance. However, certain trends can be found and explained for some classes of reactions, and we can put forward reasons that may account for changes in the activity and selectivity of the catalytical system upon halogen replacement in many cases.

In many cases, reactions follow a dissociative pathway, in which the leaving ability of the ligand is highly important. This explains why the Ru-I catalyst can be more active, either due to the leaving ability of iodide or due to the activation of another ligand by trans-effect and steric hindrance (both are more prominent in the case of iodine than of chlorine, Scheme 74a). Examples of such behaviour are often observed in the transfer hydrogenation reactions. At the same time, these effects seem insignificant for some other reactions, e.g., multiple bond hydrogenation.

In oxidation reactions, the relative activity of Ru-Cl and Ru-I catalysts is likely determined, on the one hand, the redox lability of the Ru centre of Ru-I complexes, and on the other hand, the lower redox stability of the iodide ligands per se (see Scheme 74, reaction b). Depending on the structure of a complex, either factor may be decisive.

As for metathesis reactions, replacing Cl with I in the coordination sphere of a complex facilitates the reaction initiation (i.e., ligand abstraction from the complex). However, the subsequent alkene coordination step is slower, presumably due to the steric reason (see Scheme 74, reaction c). The latter effect usually prevails. This enables chemists to obtain latent catalytic systems that are activated by heating, irradiation, etc. Metathesis polymerization reactions can be modified to produce lower molecular weight polymers using Ru-I catalysts. However, there are also examples where Ru-I complexes give higher yields of products due to the higher catalyst stability under the reaction conditions. They also tend to provide higher stereoselectivity in metathesis reactions due to their higher steric crowding.

The C-H activation of allylic alcohols is an example that illustrates the high importance of determining the catalyst structure for the catalytic system to be efficient. The welldefined Ru-I complex performs better than its chloride counterpart, which is actually a mixture of stereoisomers (see Scheme 74, reaction d). Non-classical interatomic interaction also contributes to the transition state stability in these reactions.

Nowadays, the highway of the development of catalytic systems is characterized by the progressive resort to more and

#### Scheme 74

(a) Reactions proceeding via the dissociation of a precatalyst





-  $X_2$  + Ru(II)

too



(d) A well-defined structure of the catalyst is usually desirable



more complex structures. Although this path can lead to impressive achievements in terms of obtained activity and selectivity, but often the complexity and expense of the resulting catalysts often renders them impractical to use. Simple structural modifications of the catalysts, or the use of simple additives in catalytic systems are more likely to be put into practice if they significantly improve the of the catalyst. One such modification is the halogen alternation in the structure of the complex, or the addition of a halide to the reaction mixture. We hope that patterns highlighted in this work will help to develop affordable high-performance catalysts with potential for practical use.

#### Acknowledgement

Literature search was carried out with the support from the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation (Contract No. 075-00276-25-00). Analysis of data was supported by the Russian Science Foundation (Project No. 19-73-20212- $\Pi$ ).

## 14. List of abbreviations

BICHEP — 6,6'-dimethylbiphenyl-2,2'-diyl)bis(dicyclohexylphosphine);

BIMOP — 6,6'-bis(dicyclohexylphosphino)-3,3'-dimethoxy-2,2',4,4'-tetramethyl-1,1'-biphenyl; BINAP — 2,2'-bis(diphenylphosphino)-1,1»-binaphthyl; BITIOP — 4,4'-bis(dicyclohexylphosphino)-3,3'-bitiophene; BMIM — 1-n-butyl-3-methylimidazolium; Cl-BODIPY — 8-(chloromethyl)-4,4-difluoro-1,3,5,7-tetramethyl-4-boro-3a,4a-diaza-s-indacene; cod — 1,5-cyclooctadiene; Cp — cyclopentadienyl; Cp\* — pentamethylcyclopentadienyl; CVA — cyclic voltammetry; Cy — cyclohexyl; de — diastereomeric excess; DHPD — dihydrophenantridine; DKR — dynamic kinetical resolution; DLS — dynamic light scattering; dppf — 1,1-bis(diphenylphosphino)ferrocene; *dr* — diastereomeric ratio; ee --- enantiomeric excess; EWG — electron-withdrawing group; FENAM — ferrocene-based NAD(P)H model; HEH — Hantzsch ester; IL — ionic liquid; IMesH2 — 1,3-dimesityl-4,5-dihydroimidazol-2-ylidene; 8-MePD — 8-methylphenantridine; NHC — N-heterocyclic carbene; NMO — *N*-methylmorpholine *N*-oxide; PD - phenanthridine; PMP — *p*-methoxyphenyl;

- PTA 1,3,5-triaza-7-phosphaadamantane;
- RCM ring closure metathesis;
- ROCM ring-opening cross metathesis;
- ROMP ring-opening metathesis polymerization;
- S/C substrate/catalyst molar ratio;

SIMes — 1,3-bis(2,4,6-trimethylphenyl)-2-dihydroimidazol-2-ylidene;

- TEM transmission electron microscopy;
- Tf trifluoromethanesulfonyl (triflyl);
- TOF turnover frequency;
- TON turnover number.

## 15. References

- J.Hafeez, M.Bilal, N.Rasool, U.Hafeez, A.S.Shah, S.Imran, Z.A.Zakaria. *Arabian J. Chem.*, **15** (11), 104165 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ARABJC.2022.104165
- A.Kajetanowicz, K.Grela. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 60 (25), 13738 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.202008150
- L.Monsigny, A.Kajetanowicz, K.Grela. *Chem. Rec.*, **21** (12), 3648 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/TCR.202100126
- G.Duarah, P.P.Kaishap, T.Begum, S.Gogoi. Adv. Synth. Catal., 361 (4), 654 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.201800755
- H.Zhu, S.Zhao, Y.Zhou, C.Li, H.Liu. *Catalysts*, **10** (11), 1253 (2020); https://doi.org/10.3390/CATAL10111253
- P.Singh, K.K.Chouhan, A.Mukherjee. *Chem. Asian J.*, 16 (17), 2392 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/ASIA.202100513
- J.Jose, E.J.Diana, U.S.Kanchana, T.V.Mathew. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 26 (15), e202300035 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1002/EJOC.202300035
- V.N.Charushin, E.V.Verbitskiy, O.N.Chupakhin, D.V.Vorobyeva, P.S.Gribanov, S.N.Osipov, A.V.Ivanov, S.V.Martynovskaya, E.F.Sagitova, V.D.Dyachenko, I.V.Dyachenko, S.G.Krivokolysko, V.V.Dotsenko, A.V.Aksenov, D.A.Aksenov, N.A.Aksenov, A.A.Larin, L.L.Fershtat, V.M.Muzalevskiy, V.G.Nenajdenko, A.V.Gulevskaya, A.F.Pozharskii, E.A.Filatova, K.V.Belyaeva,

- B.A.Trofimov, I.A.Balova, N.A.Danilkina, A.I.Govdi,
- A.S.Tikhomirov, A.E.Shchekotikhin, M.S.Novikov,
- N.V.Rostovskii, A.F.Khlebnikov, Yu.N.Klimochkin,
- M.V.Leonova, I.M.Tkachenko, V.A.O.Mamedov,
- V.L.Mamedova, N.A.Zhukova, V.E.Semenov, O.G.Sinyashin,
- O.V.Borshchev, Yu.N.Luponosov, S.A.Ponomarenko,
- A.S.Fisyuk, A.S.Kostyuchenko, V.G.Ilkin, T.V.Beryozkina,
- V.A.Bakulev, A.S.Gazizov, A.A.Zagidullin, A.A.Karasik,
- M.E.Kukushkin, E.K.Beloglazkina, N.E.Golantsov, A.A.Festa, L.G.Voskresensky, V.S.Moshkin, E.M.Buev,
- V.Ya.Sosnovskikh, I.A.Mironova, P.S.Postnikov,
- V.V.Zhdankin, M.S.O.Yusubov, I.A.Yaremenko, V.A.Vil', I.B.Krylov, A.O.Terent'ev, Yu.G.Gorbunova, A.G.Martynov, A.Yu.Tsivadze, P.A.Stuzhin, S.S.Ivanova, O.I.Koifman, O.N.Burov, M.E.Kletskii, S.V.Kurbatov, O.I.Yarovaya, K.P.Volcho, N.F.Salakhutdinov, M.A.Panova, Ya.V.Burgart, V.I.Saloutin, A.R.Sitdikova, E.S.Shchegravina, A.Yu.Fedorov.
- *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **93** (7), RCR5125 (2024); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5125
- R.Mamgain, M.D.Kostić, V.M.Divac, F.V.Singh. *Russ. Chem. Rev.* 93 (12), RCR5143 (2024); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5143
- E.M.Titova, A.A.Titov, E.S.Shubina. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 92 (11), RCR5099 (2023); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5099
- K.Fagnou, M.Lautens. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 41 (1), 26 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20020104)41:1<26::AID-ANIE26>3.0.CO;2-9
- P.M.Maitlis, A.Haynes, B.R.James, M.Catellani, G.P.Chiusoli. Dalton Trans., 21, 3409 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1039/B410128F
- S.Jana, M.S.Jana, D.Sarkar, M.K.Paira, T.K.Mondal. J. Mol. Struct., 1054–1055, 83 (2013);
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLSTRUC.2013.09.036
- S.A.Runikhina, A.A.Tsygankov, O.I.Afanasyev, D.Chusov. Mendeleev Commun., 33 (1), 17 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MENCOM.2023.01.005
- R.Noyori, T.Ohkuma, M.Kitamura, H.Takaya, N.Sayo, H.Kumobayashi, S.Akutagawa. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **109** (19), 5856 (1987); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA00253A051
- K.Mashima., K.-h.Kusano, T.Ohta, R.Noyori, H.Takaya. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., (17), 1208 (1989); https://doi.org/10.1039/C39890001208
- H.Takayya, T.Ohta, K.Mashima, R.Noyori. *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 62 (6), 1135 (1990);
- https://doi.org/10.1351/PAC199062061135
  18. N.Yamamoto, M.Murata, T.Morimoto, K.Achiwa. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **39** (4), 1085 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1248/CPB.39.1085
- T.Chiba, A.Miyashita, H.Nohira, H.Takaya. *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 34 (14), 2351 (1993);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)77611-8 20. B.M.Trost, J.Waser, A.Meyer. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **130** (48),
- 16424 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA806724X
   T.Benincori, E.Cesarotti, O.Piccolo, F.Sannicolò. J. Org. Chem., 65 (7), 2043 (2000);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/JO991533X
  L.Xiao, K.Mereiter, F.Spindler, W.Weissensteiner.
- *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, **12** (8), 1105 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0957-4166(01)00194-X
- Y.Wang, T.Sturm, M.Steurer, V.B.Arion. B., K.Mereiter, F.Spindler, W.Weissensteiner. *Organometallics*, 27 (6), 1119 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM701103D
- Y.Wang, W.Weissensteiner, K.Mereiter, F.Spindler. *Helv. Chim. Acta*, **89** (8), 1772 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/HLCA.200690173
- F.Spindler, C.Malan, M.Lotz, M.Kesselgruber, U.Pittelkow, A.Rivas-Nass, O.Briel, H.U.Blaser. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry*, 15 (14), 2299 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TETASY.2004.06.033
- G.Espino, L.Xiao, M.Puchberger, K.Mereiter, F.Spindler, B.R.Manzano, F.A.Jalón, W.Weissensteiner. *Dalton Trans.*, 15, 2751 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1039/B816544K

- A.Zirakzadeh, M.A.Groß, Y.Wang, K.Mereiter, F.Spindler, W.Weissensteiner. *Organometallics*, **32** (4), 1075 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM3012147
- A.Zirakzadeh, M.A.Groß, Y.Wang, K.Mereiter, W.Weissensteiner. *Organometallics*, 33(8), 1945 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM401074A
- A.V.R.Madduri, A.J.Minnaard. Chem. Eur. J., 16 (38), 11726 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/CHEM.201001284
- T.Sturm, W.Weissensteiner, F.Spindler. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 345 (1-2), 160 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.200390003
- B.Ma, T.Miao, Y.Sun, Y.He, J.Liu, Y.Feng, H.Chen, Q.-H.Fan. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, **20** (32), 9969 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1002/CHEM.201402709
- K.Nomura, H.Ogura, Y.Imanishi. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 178 (1–2), 105 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1381-1169(01)00281-3
- F.Cederbaum, C.Lamberth, C.Malan, F.Naud, F.Spindler, M.Studer, H.U.Blaser. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **346** (7), 842 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.200404022
- E.Cesarotti, I.Rimoldi, P.Spalluto, F.Demartin. *Tetrahedron:* Asymmetry, 18 (11), 1278 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TETASY.2007.04.018
- M.Kesselgruber, M.Lotz, P.Martin, G.Melone, M.Mueller, B.Pugin, F.Naud, F.Spindler, M.Thommen, P.Zbinnen, H.-U.Blaser. *Chem. Asian J.*, 3 (8–9), 1384 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/ASIA.200800186
- W.Braun, A.Salzer, F.Spindler, E.Alberico. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 274 (1–2), 191 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APCATA.2004.06.049
- A.T.Slade, C.Lensink, A.Falshaw, G.R.Clark, L.J.Wright. Dalton Trans., 43 (45), 17163 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4DT02558J.
- X.Jin, S.Huang, F.Wang, L.Zhu, H.Song, C.Xie, S.Yu, S.Li. Mol. Catal., 507, 111562 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MCAT.2021.111562
- F.Zeng, Z.Yu. Organometallics, 27 (22), 6025 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM8006213
- X.-W.Li, F.Chen, W.-F.Xu, Y.-Z.Li, X.-T.Chen, Z.-L.Xue. Inorg. Chem. Commun., 14 (10), 1673 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INOCHE.2011.07.004
- A.R.Naziruddin, Z.-J.Huang, W.-C.Lai, W.-J-Lin, W.-S.Hwang. *Dalton Trans.*, 42 (36), 13161 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3DT51161H
- N.U.Din Reshi, D.Senthurpandi, A.G.Samuelson. J. Organomet. Chem., 866, 189 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JORGANCHEM.2018.04.028
- R.J.Citta, B.L.Koteles, B.Delgado-Perez, B.C.Chan, S.E.Kalman. Organometallics, 41 (21), 3004 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGANOMET.2C00433
- L.Falivene, A.Poater, C.S.J.Cazin, C.Slugovc, L.Cavallo. Dalton Trans., 42 (20), 7312 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C2DT32277C
- L.Rafols, D.Josa, D.Aguilà, L.A.Barrios, O.Roubeau, J.Cirera, V.Soto-Cerrato, R.Péres-Tomás, M.Martínez, A.Grabulosa, P.Gamez. *Inorg. Chem.*, 60 (11), 7974 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.INORGCHEM.1C00507
- C. Česari, A. Čingolani, M. Teti, A. Messori, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, R. Mazzoni. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **2020** (11–12), 1114 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/EJIC.201900993
- M.A.N.Virboul, R.J.M.K.Gebbink. Organometallics, 31 (1), 85 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM2005595
- P.Eisele, F.Ullwer, S,Scholz, B.Plietker. *Chem. Eur. J.*, 25 (72), 16550 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/CHEM.201904927
- K.Yoshikawa, M.Murata, N.Yamamoto, K.Inoguchi, K.Achiwa. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **40** (4), 1072 (1992); https://doi.org/10.1248/CPB.40.1072
- T.Benincori, E.Brenna, F.Sannicolò, L.Trimarco, P.Antognazza, E.Cesarotti, F.Demartin, T.Pilati. J. Org. Chem., 61 (18), 6244 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1021/JO960211F

- T.Benincori, S.Bruno, G.Celentano, T.Pilati, A.Ponti, S.Rizzo, M.Sada, F.Sannicolò. *Helv. Chim. Acta*, 88 (7), 1776 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/HLCA.200590139
- C.G.Piscopo, F.W.Gallou. Leitner, G.Franciò. *Synthesis*, 49 (2), 353 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1055/S-0036-1588910
- T.Ohta, H.Ikegami, T.Miyake, H.Takaya. J. Organomet. Chem., 502 (1-2), 169 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-328X(95)05819-B
- S.Bolaño, L.Gonsalvi, F.Zanobini, F.Vizza, V.Bertolasi, A.Romerosa, M.PeruzzinI. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 224 (1-2), 61 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/J. MOLCATA.2004.06.030
- S.Yadav, I.Dutta, S.Saha, S.Das, S.K.Pati, J.Choudhury, J.K.Bera. Organometallics, 39 (17), 3212 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGANOMET.0C00413
- Q.-An Chen, D.-S.Wang, Y.-G.Zhou, Y.Duan, H.-J.Fan, Y.Yang, Z.Zhang. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133 (16), 6126 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA200723N
- Q.-An Chen, M.-W.Chen, Yu.C.Bin, L.Shi, D.-S.Wang, Y.Yang, Y.-G.Zhou. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133 (41), 16432 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA208073W
- Q.-An Chen, G.Kao, Y.Duan, Z.-S.Ye, L.Shi, Y.Yang, Y.-G.Zhou. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 134 (4), 2442 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja211684v
- Z.-B.Zhao, X.Li, M.-W.Chen, B.Wu, Y.-G.Zhou. *Chin. J. Chem.*, **38** (12), 1691 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/CJOC.202000409
- Z.P.Chen, M.W.Chen, R.N.Guo, Y.G.Zhou. Org. Lett., 16 (5), 1406 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/OL500176V
- J.Wang, Z.-H.Zhu, Mu-W.Chen, Q.-An Chen, and Y.-G.Zhou. *Ang. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **58** (6), 1813 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201813400
- J.Wang, Z.-B.Zhao, Y.Zhao, G.Luo, Z.-H.Zhu, Y.Luo, Y.-G.Zhou. J. Org. Chem., 85 (4), 2355 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JOC.9B03054
- Z.-B.Zhao, X.Li, B.Wu, Y.-G.Zhou. Chin. J. Chem., 38 (7), 714 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/CJOC.202000045
- Z.-B.Zhao, J.Wang, Z.-H.Zhu, M.-W.Chen, Y.-G.Zhou. Org. Lett., 23 (23), 9112 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGLETT.1C03430
- 65. Z.H.Zhu, Y.-X.Ding, B.Wu, Y.-G.Zhou. Org. Lett., 23 (18), 7166 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGLETT.1C02568
  66. Z.-H.Zhu, Y.-X.Ding, B.Wu, Y.-G.Zhou. *Chem. Sci.*, 11 (37), 10220 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0SC04188B
- 67. M.-W.Chen, B.Wu, Z.-P.Chen, L.Shi, Y.-G.Zhou. Org. Lett., 18 (18), 4650 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGLETT.6B02283
  68. D.van der Waals, L.E.Heim, C.Gedig, F.Herbrik, S.Vallazza, M.H.G Prechtl. *ChemSusChem*, 9 (17), 2343 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/CSSC.201600824
- S.Semwal, J.Choudhury. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 56 (20), 5556 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201702142
- A.R.Fatkulin, O.I.Afanasyev, A.A.Tsygankov, D.Chusov. J. Catal., 405, 404 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCAT.2021.12.018
  71. A.Rodríguez-Bárzano, J.D.A.Fonseca, A.J.Blacker, P.C.McGowan. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **2014** (11), 1974 (2014);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/EJIC.201400117
  72. A.Del Zotto, W.Baratta, M.Sandri, G.Verardo, P.Rigo. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, 2004 (3), 524 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/EJIC.200300518
- Z.-Q.Wang, X.Tang, Z.Yang, B.Y.Yu, H.J.Wang, W.Sang, Y.Yuan, C.Chen, F.Verpoort. *Chem. Commun.*, 55 (59), 8591 (2019)
- Z.Wu, Z.-Q.Wang, H.Cheng, Z.-H.Zheng, Y.Yuan, C.Chen, F.Verpoort. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, 630, 118443 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APCATA.2021.118443
- K.Kim, A.M.P.Moeljadi, H.Hirao, S.H.Hong. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **359** (19), 3292 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.201700786

- S.K.Sarkar, M.S.Jana, T.K.Mondal, C.Sinha. J. Organomet. Chem., 716, 129 (2012);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JORGANCHEM.2012.06.009 77. S.K.Sarkar, M.S.Jana, T.K.Mondal, C.Sinha. *Polyhedron*, **50**
- (1), 246 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.POLY.2012.11.013 78. S.Kundu, D.Sarkar, M.S.Jana, A.K.Pramanik, S.Jana,
- T.K.Mondal. J. Mol. Struct., **1035**, 277 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLSTRUC.2012.11.006
- 79. S.Jana, M.S.Jana, S.Biswas, C.Sinha, T.K.Mondal . J. Mol. Struct., 1065–1066 (1), 52 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLSTRUC.2014.02.029
- A.Moghieb, M.C.Correia, L.McElwee-White. *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 369 (1), 159 (2011);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ICA.2011.01.011 81. A.S.Antonova, F.I.Zubkov. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, **93** (8), RCR5132 (2024); https://doi.org/10.59761/RCR5132
- S.M.Masoud, D.V.Vorobyeva, D.A.Petropavlovskikh, C.Bruneau, S.N.Osipov. *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 90 (4), 419 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4984
- N.Yu.Kuznetsov, Yu.N.Bubnov. Russ. Chem. Rev., 84 (7), 758 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1070/RCR4478
- K.B.Polyanskii, K.A.Alekseeva, P.V.Raspertov,
   P.A.Kumandin, E.V.Nikitina, A.V.Gurbanov, F.I.Zubkov. Beilstein J. Org. Chem., 15 (1), 769 (2019); https://doi.org/10.3762/BJOC.15.73
- P.A.Kumandin, S.A.Antonova, K.A.Alekseeva, E.V.Nikitina, R.A.Novikov, K.A.Vasilyev, A.A.Sinelshchikova, M.S.Grigoriev, K.B.Polyanskii, F.I.Zubkov. *Organometallics*, **39** (24), 4599 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGANOMET.0C00647
- 86. E.A.Kvyatkovskaya, K.K.Borisova, P.P.Epifanova, A.A.Senin, V.N.Khrustalev, M.S.Grigoriev, A.S.Bunev, R.E.Gasanov, K.B.Polyanskii, F.I.Zubkov. *New J. Chem.*, 45 (41), 19497 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D1NJ03991A
- K.S.Sadovnikov, I.V.Nazarov, V.A.Zhigarev, A.A.Danshina, I.S.Makarov, M.V.Bermeshev. *Polymers*, 16 (18), 2671 (2024); https://doi.org/10.3390/POLYM16182671/S1
- P.P.Lezhnin, I.V.Nazarov, M.V.Bermeshev. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, **96** (8), 794 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070427223080037
- 89. I.V.Nazarov, D.V.Bakhtin, I.V.Gorlov, K.V.Potapov, I.L.Borisov, I.V.Lounev, I.S.Makarov, A.V.Volkov, E.S.Finkelstein, M.V.Bermeshev. *Polymers*, 14 (13), 2697 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/POLYM14132697
- M.S.Sandford, J.A.Love, R.H.Grubbs. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 123 (27), 6543 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA010624K
- E.L.Dias, S.B.T.Nguyen, R.H.Grubbs. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 119 (17), 3887 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA963136Z
- J.J.Van Veldhuizen, J.E.Campbell, R.E.Giudici, A.H.Hoveyda. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 127 (18), 6877 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA050179J
- D.G.Gillingham, A.H.Hoveyda. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 46 (21), 3860 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.200700501
- R.K.M.Khan, A.R.Zhugralin, S.Torker, R.V.O'Brien,
   P.J.Lombardi, A.H.Hoveyda. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 134 (30), 12438 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA3056722
- D.G.Gillingham, O.Kataoka, S.B.Garber, A.H.Hoveyda. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 126 (39), 12288–12290 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/JA0458672
- J.Wappel, C.A.Urbina-Blanco, M.Abbas, J.H.Albering, R.Saf, S.P.Nolan, C.Slugovc. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.*, 6 (1), 1091 (2010); https://doi.org/10.3762/BJOC.6.125
- R.M.Thomas, A.Fedorov, B.K.Keitz, R.H.Grubbs. *Organometallics*, **30** (24), 6713 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM200911E
- L.E.Rosebrugh, T.S.Ahmed, V.M.Marx, J.Hartung, P.Liu, J.G.López, K.N.Houk, R.H.Grubbs. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **138** (4), 1394 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.5B12277
- N.B.Nechmad, V.Kobernik, N.Tarannam, R.Phatake, O.Eivgi, S.Kozuch, N.G.Lemcoff. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 60 (12), 6372 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.202014929

- R.Gawin, K.Grela. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **2012** (9), 1477 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/EJIC.201101048
- M.Klučiar, K.Grela, M.Mauduit. *Dalton Trans.*, 42 (20), 7354 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C2DT32856A
- 102. A.Tracz, M.Matczak, K.Urbaniak, K.Skowerski. *Beilstein J.* Org. Chem., **11** (1), 1823 (2015); https://doi.org/10.3762/BJOC.11.198
- 103. N.B.Nechmad, R.Phatake, E.Ivry, A.Poater, N.G.Lemcoff. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 59 (9), 3539 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201914667
- 104. E.Ivry, N.B.Nechmad, M.Baranov, I.Goldberg, N.G.Lemcoff. *Inorg. Chem.*, 57 (24), 15592 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.INORGCHEM.8B02917
- 105. R.S.Phatake, N.B.Nechmad, O.Reany, N.G.Lemcoff. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **364** (8), 1465 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.202101515
- 106. T.J.Seiders, D.W.Ward, R.H.Grubbs. Org. Lett., **3** (20), 3225 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/OL0165692
- 107. C.O.Blanco, D.L.Nascimento, D.E.Fogg. *Organometallics*, 40 (12), 1811 (2021);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGANOMET.1C00253
  108. C.P.Breen, C.Parrish, N.Shangguan, S.Majumdar, H.Murnen, T.F.Jamison, M.M.Bio. Org. Process Res. Dev., 24 (10), 2298
- (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.OPRD.0C00061
  109. S.A.Gámez-Rivera, J.Francos, J.Borge, V.Cadierno. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **2017** (35), 4138 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/EJIC.201700727
- 110. P.Crochet, J.Díez, M.A.Fernández-Zúmel, J.Gimeno. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **348** (1–2), 93 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/ADSC.200505279
- G.Csjernyik, K.Bogár, J.E.Bäckvall. *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 45 (36), 6799 (2004);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TETLET.2004.07.013 112. N.Kim, S.-B.Ko, S.K.Min, M.-J.Kim, J.Park. Org. Lett., 7 (20), 4523 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/OL051889X
- Y.Zhang, C.Chen, S.C.Ghosh, Y.Li, S.H.Hong. *Organometallics*, **29** (6), 1374 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM901020H
- 114. J.H.Dam, G.Osztrovszky, L.U.Nordstrøm, R.Madsen. *Chem.– Eur. J.*, **16** (23), 6820 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/CHEM.201000569
- E.Ortiz, J.Z.Shezaf, Y.H.Chang, T.P.Gonçalves, K.W.Huang, M.J.Krische. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 143 (40), 16709 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.1C07857
- 116. E.Ortiz, B.J.Spinello, Y.Cho, J.Wu, M.J.Krische. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 61 (49), e202212814 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.202212814
- 117. E.Ortiz, Y.H.Chang, J.Z.Shezaf, W.Shen, M.J.Krische. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 44 (19), 8861 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.2C03614
- 118. C.Saludares, E.Ortiz, C.G.Santana, B.J.Spinello, M.J.Krische. J. ACS Catal., **13**, 1662 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSCATAL.2C05425
- L.V.Graux, M.Giorgi, G.Buono, H.Clavier. *Dalton Trans.*, 45 (15), 6491 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5DT04683A
- H.Nishiyama, Y.Itoh, Y.Sugawara, H.Matsumoto, K.Aoki, K.Itoh. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 68 (5), 1247 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1246/BCSJ.68.1247
- D.Zhu, L.Chen, H.Zhang, Z.Ma, H.Jiang, S.Zhu. Ang. Chem., Int. Ed., 57 (38), 12405 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201805676 122. J.Liu, G.Xu, S.Tang, Q.Chen, J.Sun. *Org. Lett.*, **22** (23), 9376 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ORGLETT.0C03653
- 123. S.M.Rummelt, K.Radkowski, D.-A.Roşca, A.Fürstner. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 137 (16), 5506 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/JACS.5B01475
- 124. Y.Itami, B.Marciniec, M.Majchrzak, M.Kubicki. Organometallics, 22 (9), 1835 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM020986G

- 125. Y.Tanabe, K.Kanao, Y.Miyake, Y.Nishibayashi. Organometallics, 28 (4), 1138 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/OM8011079
- 126. P.A.Shelton, C.R.Hilliard, M.Swindling, L.McElwee-White. *ARKIVOC*, **2010** (8), 160 (2010); https://doi.org/10.3998/ARK.5550190.0011.813
- 127. M.Hidai, Y.Koyasu, K.Chikanari, Y.Uchida. J. Mol. Catal., 40 (2), 243 (1987);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-5102(87)80041-X 128. B.D.Dombek. *J. Organomet. Chem.*, **250** (1), 467 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-328X(83)85070-0
- 129. M.Trivedi, P.Sharma, I.K.Pandey, A.Kumar, S.Kumar, N.P.Rath. *Chem. Commun.*, **57** (71), 8941 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CC03049C
- S.Chatterjee, P.J.Carroll, L.G.Sneddon. *Inorg. Chem.*, 49 (7), 3095 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/IC100323E
- 131. S.Chatterjee, P.J.Carroll, L.G.Sneddon. *Inorg. Chem.*, **52** (15), 9119 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/IC401356U